1978

# State of Utah v. Willie Mae Walker : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction for possession of narcotics with the intent to distribute and a sentence of fifteen years thereof.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of her conviction and either the direction of a verdict of acquittal or a new trial.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 14th day of July, 1976, police officers obtained a search warrant to search for narcotics at the premises of 511-513 West Second South, Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 37). The upstairs portion of that premises was a rooming house or apartment complex which contains approximately six apartments (See State's Exhibit 1). Several of the rooms or apartments were occupied (Tr. 79, 100). All of the apartments were searched by the police and narcotics were found in two of the rooms and on one person who was on the premises. Three arrests were made.

During the course of the search, 56 balloons of heroin were found in a night stand in Room 6 as appears on Exhibit 1 (Tr. 40-43). The defendant in this case, the appellant herein, is charged with possession with the intent to distribute those 56 balloons of heroin. The evidence was clear that the room in which the narcotics were found was not the bedroom of the defendant (Tr. 53). The room in which the narcotics were found appeared to be a bedroom in which there was also a desk containing business records from the restaurant below (Tr. 53-54). The defense witnesses testified that the room was occupied by a man by the name of Robert Westley (Tr. 165-166, 115). The police testified that none of Mr. Westley's clothes were found in the room, that the defendant indicated that Westley was not staying in the room, and that the defendant had control over the room (Tr. 80, 81, 82).

The defense proffered the testimony of Mr. James Housley for the purpose of showing that Mr. Westley did, in fact, occupy the room wherein the narcotics were found. Mr. Housley was a Salt Lake County Attorney at the time of the trial and it was hoped that his testimony would be persuasive because of the fact that he was a lawyer -- he was white -- and he was working for the prosecution. Mr. Housley, while in private practice, had consulted with Robert Westley and had observed him in that room in nightclothes getting out of bed. However, the Court refused to allow his testimony on grounds of foundation.

The jury convicted the defendant and she was sentenced from one to fifteen years to the Utah State Prison.

#### POINT I

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WITH WHICH TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT OF THE CRIME OF POSSESSION OF NARCOTICS WITH THE INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE.

The evidence in this case did not show the defendant's guilt and, in fact, the defendant has consistently maintained her innocence. As has been pointed out by legal scholars and noted practitioners such as F. Lee Bailey, a claim of innocence is the weakest claim that can be presented on appeal. Mr. Bailey has stated that he would rather defend on appeal a guilty person who was forced to confess or from whom evidence was obtained illegally rather than an innocent person whom the jury convicted.



argument that can be presented on appeal is that there is insufficient evidence for a jury to find a verdict of guilty. However, in light of such knowledge and because the defendant was innocent she will assert on appeal that there was insufficient evidence on which to convict the appellant.

The defendant was not found in actual possession of the narcotics. The narcotics were found in a room while the defendant was downstairs cooking in the restaurant. The prosecution argued a theory of constructive possession i.e., that the defendant had control over the room as she was the proprietor of the premises and that the room contained restaurant books and records and, therefore, she was in constructive possession of the narcotics. The only evidence brought before the Court was that the defendant was the proprietor of the premises; that the narcotics were found in a room which was not the defendant's bedroom; that the room in which the narcotics were found contained a bed and in a separate part of the room a desk containing records from the restaurant. Beside the bed was a nightstand or commode in which the heroin was found; the police officers testified that the defendant stated that she had "control over the room" or control over the entire premises. That is the entire evidence upon which the defendant was convicted.

The defense proffered testimony that the room was occupied by a Mr. Robert Westley. During the search of the premises, Mr. Westley was also searched (Tr. 96). The search of Mr. Westley uncovered four balloons of heroin on his person (Tr. 100). It was proven that the balloons that were taken from the suspect Robert Westley were identical to the balloons that were found in the room with which the defendant was charged of possessing.

The prosecution's chemist testified that the heroin with which the defendant was charged with possessing and which was found in the room was cut with quinine. He testified that he was quite surprised to find quinine inasmuch as quinine was primarily used as a cutting agent in the east while in the west lactose was used to cut heroin (Tr. 107-108). The evidence showed that Robert Westley was from Chicago.

The State's chemist also made an analysis of the four balloons of heroin that were recovered from the search of the person of Robert Westley. In the balloons that were recovered from the person of Robert Westley, quinine was also found (Tr. 112). Strangely enough, the balloons of heroin with which the defendant was charged with possessing and were found in the room were also cut with methapyrilene. Again, the prosecution's chemist testified that such was an uncommon cutting agent (Tr. 109). Coincidentally -- or not so co-  
incidentally -- the heroin found on Robert Westley was also

cut with methapyrilene (Tr. 112). The State's chemist testified that the chances of finding two samples on different persons with the same amount of quinine and the same amount of methapyrilene would be very small (Tr. 109).

The defense called their own expert to reaffirm these facts. Kevin L. McCloskey a biochemical toxicologist for the Center of Human Toxicology at the University of Utah was called to testify on behalf of the defendant (Tr. 151). He examined both the heroin that the defendant was charged with possessing which was found in the room and the heroin found in the possession of Robert Westley. He performed quantitative analysis of the two heroin and found that there were no physical dissimilarities (Tr. 153-154). Also Ladislav Kopjak, who was a forensic toxicologist for the Center of Human Toxicology at the University of Utah was called by the defense. A forensic toxicologist analyzes specimens for presence or absence of drugs or other toxic substances (Tr. 155). He analyzed both the specimens with which the defendant was charged with possessing which were found in the room and the specimens that were found in the search of Robert Westley. He testified:

"I found that quantitatively the samples seemed to be similar and there was heroin, quinine, and the antihistamine methapyrilene in the balloons from 3-P and also 7-D. (Tr. 158). . . . They both appeared to be similar quantitatively."

His report was introduced into evidence as Exhibit 11-D.

was normally used as a cutting agent in the eastern United States and not the western area (Tr. 158).

The prosecution -- not the defense -- elicited evidence from the defense witness on cross examination concerning the defendant's good character and lack of contact with narcotics. The defense witness Edward Barton who was a former police officer and presently an investigator for the Salt Lake Legal Defenders' Association, testified pursuant to questions asked by the prosecution on cross-examination as follows:

Q. Do you know Willie Mae Walker that well?

A. Yes, I have known her for some time.

Q. Have you, have you ever known her to be a user of narcotic drugs.

A. No sir, I have not.

Q. How long have you known her?

A. Probably five years. (Tr. 150).

Also the defense witness, James Frank Housley, a prosecutor for the Salt Lake County Attorney's Office was cross-examined by the prosecution:

Q. How did you characterize your relationship with the defendant.

A. I -- I was her lawyer for three and one half or four years and considered myself to be a good friend and her to be a good friend to me. (Tr. 136).

It is the defendant's contention that there can be

no other conclusion reached except that the narcotics found

Sponsored by the Utah State Library. For more information, please contact the Utah State Library, 150 South University Avenue, Salt Lake City, Utah 84143. Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library. Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

in the room -- the narcotics that the defendant was convicted of possessing -- was from the same source as the narcotics in the possession of Robert Westley. It is further the defendant's position that in view of Robert Westley's occupancy of or at least access to the room in which the narcotics were found and the fact that the defendant may also have access to that room is insufficient evidence on which to convict her of possession of heroin.

The defense moved for a directed verdict:

MR. LEEDY: The defense moves for a directed verdict of acquittal on the grounds and for the reason that there is insufficient evidence from which this jury could reasonably determine that the heroin contained in Exhibit 3P was possessed and belonged to the defendant Willie Mae Walker. (Tr. 221)

A statement of the law and a summarization of the pertinent cases is found in Mulligan v. State and Richardson v. State, 513 P. 2d 180 (1973), in that case marijuana was found in an apartment to which two persons had access. One of the persons was found guilty of possession and the Wyoming Supreme Court reversed. In so doing, it stated:

As to circumstantial evidence in a criminal case, we said in State v. Rideout, (Wyo.) 450 P. 2d 452, 454, 455, evidence creating a mere probability of guilt is not sufficient; much less is evidence which gives rise to mere suspicious or conjecture of guilt . . . If the circumstances, no matter how strong, can be reasonably reconciled with a

theory that some other person may have done the act, of the defendant should not be convicted and a verdict of guilty should be set aside as contrary to law. Gardner v. State, 27 Wyo. 316, 196 Pac. 750, 751; Thompson v. State, 41 Wyo. 72, 283 Pac. 151, 157.

In State v. Haynes, 25 Ohio St. 2d 264, 267 N.E. 2d 787, 788, the Court held that where the only evidence of possession was the police discovery of the narcotics in the general living area of the apartment occupied by defendant and four others, such evidence was not sufficient to convict for possession.

In Sturgeon v. State, Okl. Cr. 483 P. 2d 335, 338, it was held, where an unlawful drug is found in premises not occupied exclusively by the defendant, and nothing more is shown, the evidence is circumstantial and insufficient. . . . Conviction was reversed in Thompson v. United States, D.C.C.A. 293 A. 2d 275, 276, when the court commenting, someone in the apartment was in possession, actual or constructive, of the marijuana; but the evidence failed to make a showing beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant was that person.

In narcotic cases there is respectable authority for the proposition that if a person has control of premises on which the drugs are found, there is a presumption that he was in possession of the drugs. On the other hand, if possession is not shown to be exclusive, there must be other evidence to warrant such inference. One of the leading cases for this proposition is People v. Antista, 129 Cal. App. 2d 47, 276 P. 2d 177, 179 . . . A more recent case and one which like in Antista, is frequently cited is Brown v. State, Okl. Cr. 481 P. 2d 475, 477-478. It stands for the proposition that it cannot be inferred from merely being present in a place where marijuana is found the defendant had knowledge of its presence and had dominion and control. Citing from Antista, that court considered it neither for the State to prove either that the marijuana belonged to the defendant or that it had been left in his care by someone else.

The Brown court also referred to Petty v. People, 167 Colo. 240, 447 P. 2d 217, 220, where the defendant's conviction for possession of marijuana found in an apartment shared with another was reversed for insufficiency.

. . . . .

The rule to be derived in connection with an inference of possession of narcotics from possession of premises is well stated in Felts v. People, Colo. 498 P. 2d 1128, 1131, in these words:

" . . . where a person is in possession but not in exclusive possession of that premises, it may not be inferred that he knew of the presence of marijuana there and had control of that unless there are statements or other circumstances tending to buttress the inference" . . . . .

In the present case the evidence shows that Robert Westley had, at least access if not total occupancy, to the room where the 56 balloons of heroin were found. Under law as stated above, there will be insufficient evidence to convict the appellant for possession of heroin found in that room unless there was other evidence indicating that the heroin was hers. There was no such other evidence.

## POINT II

THE COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW TESTIMONY FROM THE WITNESS JAMES HOUSLEY THAT ROBERT WESTLEY OCCUPIED THE ROOM IN WHICH THE NARCOTICS WERE FOUND.

During the prosecution's case, the police officers attempted to imply that Robert Westley did not occupy the room in which the narcotics were found. This was done by virtue of testimony to the effect that no articles of men's clothing were found in the room (Tr. 80-82, 87). And also, by so-called "admissions" of the defendant herself that she

had control of the room (Tr. 82-83). The defense proffered evidence that Westley did, in fact occupy the room in which the narcotics were found. This was done through the testimony of the defendant herself (Tr. 165-172), and also another occupant of the apartment house, a Mr. Chalmers Hood (Tr. 115). The defense desired to support their testimony with the testimony of Mr. James Housley, who was a white, a lawyer, and a then prosecuting attorney. The prosecution attempted to prevent such evidence, first by a "motion in limine" (R. 76-77), and then objections during the course of the examination.

The defense strongly excepted to the prosecution's attempt to cover up that evidence as well as their removal of certain evidence from the courtroom during the trial.

In a motion for a directed verdict the defense counsel stated:

"I think it raises a Brady v. Maryland problem. I think this has been the case from the start. I believe it was well within the prosecution's knowledge that the room marked "0" was, in fact, Robert Westley's room. One of the prosecutors visited Mr. Westley in that particular room. Not only did they not disclose that to me, now I understand they are going to argue maybe it was at a different time. Now they have taken the dope out.

The prosecution responded that a Brady v. Maryland was not proper in that no demand was made for exculpatory evidence (Tr. 60). The court reprimanded the prosecution, but denied the defendant's motion.



"Well, the problem with it, Mr. Austin, is that when items come into evidence via the preliminary hearing stage, or at the trial stage, those are within the jurisdiction of the Court, and they are not to be removed."

When I say not to be removed, "they are not to be removed without a Court order."

In attempting to elicit the testimony from the witness James Housley, that he had seen Mr. Robert Westley occupy the room in which the narcotics were found, the following occurred:

Q. And did you have occasion to represent Mr. Robert Westley, or a male person known as "Billie"?

A. I had the man known to me as "Billie" consult with me and I charged him a fee. I didn't represent him any more than just a short consultation.

Q. Now, with respect to that confrontation, did you have occasion to visit with him in his room above Dell's Cafe?

MR. AUSTIN: Objection at this point, I believe that comes under the attorney-client privilege and Mr. Westley is not here to claim the privilege.

. . . .

THE COURT: Just a minute. Excuse me. The objection is overruled.

A. I didn't visit in his room, and it wasn't in connection with my representation of him, but I have seen him there.

Q. You have seen Mr. Westley in his room before at Dell's Cafe?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you describe for the jury which room that was?

MR. AUSTIN: Objection, foundation.

Q. I'll ask you to look at Exhibit 9D and ask if you can recognize what that is a diagram of?

A. I recognize it as a diagram of the second floor of what I know as Dell's Cafe on West Second South.

Q. And are you familiar with Dell's room on Exhibit 9D?

A. Yes. (Tr. 130-131).

. . . .

Q. During the period of time of July -- that is when this search was -- July of 1976, are you aware of which room was hers?

A. Yes.

Q. Which room would it have been?

A. This room right here.

Q. Now, you indicated also that you had occasion to visit Mr. Westley on Exhibit -- or excuse me, in the upstairs area of Dell's Cafe, is that correct?

A. Yes. . . I don't think I had occasion to visit with him there, I saw him there.

Q. You did see him in his room?

A. I saw him in a room that I thought was his room.

Q. Which room?

MR. AUSTIN: Objection to what he thinks, your Honor, only to what he knows.

Q. Why did you think the room you saw him in was his room?

A. Well, he was getting out of bed, he was undressed getting out of bed.

Q. Okay, what room was that you observed him in?

MR. AUSTIN: Objection, foundation, time period.

A. Not precisely.

Q. Could you give me your best recollection?

A. I knew the man that I knew as "Billie" from late December of 1975 until sometime in the summer of 1976, and I can't tell you the date. I know it was prior to the time that Dell was arrested on this charge.

Q. Now, would you point out for the jury what room it was that you observed Mr. Westley getting out of bed in, partially clad?

MR. AUSTIN: Objection to that, your Honor, it would be irrelevant, no foundation as to period of time.

THE COURT: The objection will be sustained.

MR. LEEDY: May I make a proffer. . . .

THE COURT: You may, outside the presence of the jury.

MR. LEEDY: Should we approach the bench?

Unfortunately, the proffer was not recorded by the Court reporter, but it has been submitted in the record. The proffer was that sometime prior to the search, but after December of 1975, Mr. Housley had seen Mr. Westley in the room in which the narcotics were found and that Mr. Westley was just getting out of bed and was partially clad.

It is the defendant's position that such evidence was relevant and a foundation had been laid. The fact that the observation was not made at the precise time of the search may go to the weight of the evidence, but would certainly not go to its relevancy, nor foundation.

The foundational objection was obviously not well taken as the witness had testified as to his personal knowledge concerning the events about which he was to be examined.

The relevancy objection was likewise improper. Relevant evidence is all competent evidence of facts and circumstances which afford reasonable inferences or throw light upon the matter or matters contested, 29 Am. Jur. 2d 299, Evidence, §251.

One of the extremely relevant issues in the lawsuit was whether or not Robert Westley had access to or occupied the room in which the heroin was found. His occupancy of that room at some time prior to the search would certainly be relevant inasmuch as a reasonable juror could infer present occupancy from prior occupancy. The fact that evidence

"Is remote in point of time. . . does not of itself preclude its admissibility. . . . In effect, the objection of the evidence is too remote goes to the credibility of the evidence rather than to its admissibility, unless the remoteness is so great that the proffer of evidence has no probative value at all."

Thus, the sustaining of the objection on grounds of relevancy and foundation to the witness Housley's testimony was improper and in error. The exclusion of such testimony was prejudicial in that it would have supported the defendant's position; that Robert Westley had access to the room and, thus, the defendant should not have been convicted for possession based upon the sole evidence that narcotics were found in the

### POINT III

THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GIVE THE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 1 AND NO. 3 CONCERNING ACCESS TO OR EXCLUSIVE CONTROL OF A ROOM WHERE NARCOTICS ARE FOUND.

The defendant requested that the District Court instruct the jury as follows:

Instruction No. 1. Members of the jury, you are instructed that the defendant Willie Mae Walker is charged with the crime of possession of heroin with the intent to distribute. Before the defendant may be found guilty of this offense, it is incumbent upon the prosecution to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had possession of heroin.

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