1978

State of Utah v. Willie Mae Walker : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

1 In Mulligan, *supra*, the Wyoming court applies a very strict standard on the use of circumstantial evidence in narcotics cases. The standard of proof for circumstantial evidence was such that it must exclude every reasonable hypothesis other than that of guilt. This part of Mulligan was specifically overruled by the court in Blakely v. State, Wyo., 542 P.2d 857 (1975), where the court adopted the concept that circumstantial evidence should be evaluated by the jury on the same basis as direct evidence.

Sponsored by the U.S. Criminal Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services. Digitized by eGangotri. Original document from the University of Utah Libraries. Digitized by eGangotri. Original document from the University of Utah Libraries.

that possession or control of the drugs must be shown to be exclusive before she can be convicted of unlawful possession of narcotics. However, contrary to the assertions of the appellant, there was sufficient evidence presented by the State at the trial that defendant's possession and control of the drugs was exclusive. The room in which the heroin was found was referred to by the prosecution as "O" (Tr.39), since the room was purportedly a business office. See Exhibit IP, a diagram of the second floor of Del's Cafe. The defense, however, referred to the particular room in which the drugs were found as "room 6." The defense counsel at the trial had his own diagram of the second floor to which defense witnesses were directed, on which the rooms were numbered. This diagram, exhibit 9D at the trial, did not come up with the rest of the record on appeal. However, it may be inferred from the testimony of the defense witnesses, from the closing arguments of the counsel for the defense (Tr.211,212), and appellant's brief, page 2, that "room 6" was indeed the room in which the drugs were discovered by the police officers.

The appellant tries to show that Robert Westley, also known as "Billie," was living in, or had access to the room where the narcotics were found, and thus that the defendant's possession or control over the heroin was not exclusive. There was no substantial evidence

presented at the trial that Westley had any kind of control over that room. The testimony of one of the arresting officers, Randall Anderson, was that the room was locked with at least two locks, one of which was a dead bolt type of lock (Tr.40). Inside they found the heroin, as well as business records, a cash register tray and some money (Tr.53,54,80). Also discovered in the room were woman's clothing, jewelry and furs, all of which the defendant admitted were her's (Tr.80,170). In the nightstand in which the heroin was found were also discovered by the officers two envelopes, which were both addressed to the defendant (Tr.41,66-69). There were no articles of men's clothing or shaving gear found in the room (Tr.54,81,87,189). Upon being examined at the trial concerning his confrontation with the defendant at the time of the arrest, Officer Randall Anderson testified according to the following:

"Q. (By Mr. Austin) Where did you come into contact with her on that day.

A. Outside the office area there.

Q. Who was present when you were talking to her?

A. Myself and Deputy George.

Q. Did you read her her rights?

A. Deputy George previously had given her her rights.

Q. Did you ask her any questions at that time?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. What questions did you ask her?

A. I asked her if she had any rent receipts for the other rooms upstairs.

Q. What was her response to you at that time?

A. She stated no she did not, that she had friends who stayed in there periodically. However, they did not rent the rooms. I then stated, 'In other words they're under your control?' She said, 'That's right.'" (Tr.66).

Officer Michael George also spoke with the defendant at the time of her arrest. He testified as follows:

"Q. What questions did you ask her regarding narcotics that you found upstairs; alleged narcotics?

A. The first question I asked her is who was staying in the room, the second on the right, which was described where Deputy Anderson had found the narcotics. She stated at that time no one was staying there. That was her business office, and she had control over the office area.

Q. Did you ask her anything further regarding that room?

A. I did. She stated that she had people staying there from time to time. No one stayed in there for the past few days. She stated that a party by the name of Billy had been staying there, but stated Billy was staying in her bedroom; the first one on the left. I asked her who 'Billy' was. She stated that's her boyfriend who was later identified as Robert Westley.

Q. Did you ask her regarding any keys to rooms on the other floors?

A. I did.

Q. What question did you ask?

A. She stated she had control over all the rooms. She had the keys.

Q. She had the keys? Did you ask her regarding the keys to this particular room where the alleged narcotics were found?

A. Yes, sir; I did. She stated that she had the only key to that door. That was the business office at that time." (Tr.82,83).

Under rebuttal direct examination by the prosecution Officer George testified again concerning statements made by the defendant at the time of her arrest:

"Q. When you had this conversation with the defendant in this case, after you read her her Miranda rights, did you ask her who had control of that room?

A. I did.

Q. What was her response?

A. She stated she had exclusive control to that room, and she had the only key to that room.

Q. You had a conversation with her regarding the man who's been identified as Robert Westley?

A. I did.

Q. What was the substance of that conversation?

A. Well, when I asked her who was staying in the room that I have just described where the narcotics were found, I asked her if anybody was staying there. She stated nobody was staying there and nobody had been

staying there for the last few days. However, her boy friend, Billy, had been staying there a few days ago." (Tr.189).

The defendant went on to tell Officer George that Billie, i.e., Robert Westley, was "staying in her bedroom; the first one on the left." (Tr.82). This is exactly the room in which Officer Jim Duncan testified he found Robert Westley in his pajamas (Tr.94,95). The room in which the heroin was discovered was the second room on the right, at the top of the stairs (Tr.82). See also Exhibit 1P.

Apparently there was some confusion on the part of the defense as to who exactly did live in room 6, where the heroin was found. At the trial under direct examination by defense counsel the defendant testified that Robert Westley lived in room 7 rather than room 6 (Tr.165). Evidently the defendant changed her mind as to who was living in room 6, in which the drugs were found, some time prior to the trial. In an "affidavit in support of motion to suppress search warrant" (R.37), June 21, 1977, the defendant, under oath, testified that one Gwendolyn Faye Campbell lived in the room, which the defense referred to at the trial as "room 6." The defendant at the trial, however, testified that Gwendolyn Faye Campbell lived in room 4 (Tr. 166). The only witness for the defense who testified that Westley lived in room 6 was Chalmers Hood. However, Hood

also testified that he did not arrive in Salt Lake City until September of 1976 (Tr.118). The arrest took place on July 14, 1976. Officer George testified that Hood was absolutely not present at that address when the search warrant was executed (Tr.188). Hood could not possibly have known where Westley was living at the time of the arrest. All of the evidence presented by the State at the trial points to the fact that the defendant had exclusive control of the particular room where the heroin was found on July 14, 1976.

Appellant tries to infer that Westley had control of the room by giving evidence to show that the heroin found on the person of Westley was similar to that found in the room. It does not follow from that evidence that Westley had any kind of control over the room, or access to the drugs therein. The respondent does not find the evidence compelling that the drugs found on Westley and those found in the appellant's business office were from the same stock. However, even if they did come from the same stock, the more logical explanation as to how Westley obtained the heroin, which was found on him, is that he got it from the appellant, with whom he had a romantic relationship, according to her testimony at the trial (Tr.169). Simply because Westley was found with drugs on his person which may have come from the appellant's

Scanned by the Internet Archive (www.archive.org) for the National Library of Medicine and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

own stock which she kept in her business office does not mean he had any kind of joint control over the drugs with her. The evidence shows that she possessed the heroin in a large quantity with an intent to distribute (Tr.69,85,99). The fact of Westley's possession of such drugs is simply evidence that she did indeed distribute those narcotics which she kept locked in her office.

There is sufficient circumstantial evidence to support the finding of the jury that the drugs were held with an intent to sell and distribute. The amount of heroin discovered was an unusually large quantity. All three arresting officers who testified at the trial gave their opinions that the heroin was held with an intent to sell (Tr.69,85,99). State v. Bankhead, *supra* at 803, points out that circumstantial evidence may be used to prove that the accused possessed the narcotics for sale rather than for her individual use.

There was sufficient evidence presented at the trial court from which the jury could conclude that the defendant was guilty. This Court stated in State v. Wilson, 565 P.2d 66 (Utah 1977):

"The judging of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence is exclusively the prerogative of the jury. Consequently we are obliged to assume that the jury believed those aspects of the evidence, and drew those inferences that reasonably could be drawn therefrom, in the light favorable to the verdict. In order for the defendant to successfully challenge and overturn a verdict on the ground of insufficiency of the evidence, it must appear that upon so viewing the evidence, reasonable minds must necessarily entertain a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime. In applying the rules above stated to the instant case, we are not persuaded that the verdict should be overturned." 565 P.2d at 68.

The Wilson case involved a prosecution for possession of heroin with intent to distribute for value. The defendant testified that he was out of town when the alleged sale took place, while the prosecution's witness testified that she had made the purchase from defendant in Salt Lake City on the date in question. The Court stated that it was a proper function of the jury to determine which of these obviously conflicting testimonies it would believe.

The position of this Court concerning the review of the sufficiency of evidence is further stated in State v. Romero, 554 P.2d 216 (Utah 1976):

"This court has long upheld the standard that on an appeal from conviction the court cannot weigh the evidence nor say what quantum is necessary to establish a fact beyond a reasonable doubt so long as the evidence given is substantial. Further, this court has maintained that its function is not to determine guilt or innocence, the weight to give conflicting evidence, the credibility of witnesses, or the weight to be given defendant's testimony." 554 P.2d at 218.

The jury in the instant case has obviously chosen to give more weight to the testimonies of the police officers than to that of the defendant. In this case, the testimony of the witnesses for the prosecution afforded the jury a substantial basis on which they could reasonably find that the defendant constructively possessed the heroin by virtue of her exclusive control over the room in which it was found. Their determination of guilt should remain undisturbed.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY REFUSED TO ALLOW TESTIMONY FROM THE WITNESS JAMES HOUSLEY THAT ROBERT WESTLEY OCCUPIED THE ROOM IN WHICH THE HEROIN WAS DISCOVERED.

The appellant tries to show that Robert Westley did have occupancy or control over the room in which the

heroin was found on July 14, 1976. Her argument is unsound on several points. Defense counsel claims this case is a Brady v. Maryland problem, and that the prosecution attempted to cover up evidence and also that the prosecution removed certain evidence from the courtroom during the trial. Appellant neglects to point out in her brief that the evidence which was removed from the courtroom was the four balloons of heroin found on Westley, Exhibit 7D. This was done as a result of a misunderstanding between Mr. Leedy, counsel for the defense, and Mr. Austin, the prosecutor (Tr.57-63). The four balloons were quickly returned to the courtroom once it was apparent what had happened (Tr.63). The court ruled that the chain of evidence for the defense was not broken (Tr.63).

This case is definitely not similar to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). In Brady, the defense counsel had requested the prosecution to allow him to examine the extrajudicial statements of the defendant's companion. Several of these were shown to him; but one in which the companion admitted the actual killing was withheld by the prosecution and did not come to the petitioner's notice until after he had been tried, convicted and sentenced. In the case now before the Court there is absolutely no evidence

that the prosecution withheld any evidence during the trial, which might be favorable to the appellant, nor is there evidence that the defense counsel made any request for such evidence, as had been made in the Brady case.

Housley had visited Del's Cafe and had seen Westley getting out of bed but was unable to say exactly when, other than that he had known Westley "from late December of 1975 until sometime in the summer of 1976" and that the date of his visit was "prior to the time that Dell was arrested on this charge." (Tr.133). Housley was not a prosecutor for the county attorney's office at the time he visited Del's Cafe and saw Westley (Tr.130).

The evidence which the defense was trying to introduce through Housley's testimony was properly excluded by the judge. The issue here is whether Westley had control or occupancy of the room in which the heroin was found on July 14, 1976. Housley knew nothing as to this issue.

Jones on Evidence, 6th Ed., sec. 4.1, p. 379, states:

"A witness having no knowledge of the proposition which is the subject of proof could hardly be expected to give relevant testimony."

Utah Rules of Evidence, Rule 45, give the judge the discretion to exclude evidence if he feels that its probative value is outweighed by other considerations.

See also McCormick's Handbook of the Law of Evidence, 2d ed., pp. 438-440. This discretionary power of the judge

to exclude evidence is very broad, Martin v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 565 P.2d 1139 (Utah 1977); Williams v. Queen Fisheries, 2 Wash.App. 691, 469 P.2d 583 (1966); Olson v. Hardware Dealers Mutual Fire Ins. Co., 45 Wis.2d 569, 173 N.W.2d 599 (1970). If there was any probative value in the excluded testimony of Housley the trial judge evidently felt it was outweighed by its remoteness in time, and the inability of Housley to say when his visit took place. Evans v. Gaisford, 122 Utah 156, 247 P.2d 431 (1952), held that remoteness of the evidence to the issue is one of the elements the judge can take into consideration in weighing its probative value. The trial judge here did not abuse his discretion in sustaining the objection to Housley's testimony, which would have had little if any probative value in showing that the appellant did not have exclusive control over her locked office in which the heroin was kept on July 14, 1976.

At the trial the counsel for the defense made a proffer of evidence, concerning the testimony of Housley which was excluded by the judge (Tr.133-134). This proffer was not recorded and is nowhere contained in the record. The only place the proffer is mentioned is Appellant's Brief. This, however, is insufficient in an appeal. The Utah Court in Watkins v. Simonds, 14 Utah 2d 406, 385 P.2d 155 (1963), stated: "This court cannot consider facts stated in the

briefs which may be true but absent in the official record. See also Cooper v. Foresters Underwriters, Inc., 123 Utah 215, 257 P.2d 540 (1953); Skyline v. Datacap, 545 P.2d 512 (Utah 1976). Appellant's proffer should not be considered by the court in this appeal by virtue of its not being properly within the record.

A. EVEN IF SUCH TESTIMONY FROM HOUSLEY SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED, IT WAS A HARMLESS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO REFUSE TO ALLOW IT.

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